## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ANDRE MERRITT,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

Case No. S231644

JUN -7 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E062540 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVI1300082 The Honorable Debra Harris, Judge

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant Andre Merritt was convicted of two counts of second degree robbery for robbing two separate store clerks at gunpoint on the same night. At trial, appellant conceded every element of robbery and contested only identity. Store surveillance footage captured appellant committing the robberies, and both store clerks immediately identified appellant as the robber. Though both the prosecutor and defense counsel listed the elements of robbery for the jury during their closing arguments, the trial court failed to read the standard instruction on the elements of robbery to the jury.

The Court of Appeal reversed appellant's two robbery convictions, holding that the failure to instruct the jury on substantially all the elements of robbery was structural error not amenable to harmless error review. The court relied exclusively on this court's decision in *People v. Cummings* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233 (*Cummings*). But after *Cummings*, the United States Supreme Court in *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1 (*Neder*) clarified the law concerning whether harmless error analysis applies to such instructional errors of constitutional dimension and held that it does. And, in *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400 (*Mil*) and *People v. Aranda* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 342 (*Aranda*), this court followed *Neder* and reached the same conclusion. However, this court did not expressly disapprove of *Cummings* on this point, and lower courts have been struggling to reconcile the decisions ever since. While the facts of *Mil* did not require the court to overrule *Cummings*, the reasoning of *Mil*, *Neder*, and other post-*Cummings* cases do not support retaining the *Cummings* rule.

Application of the rule in *Cummings* leads to arbitrary results, while application of the rule in *Neder* and *Mil* preserves judgments obtained from fundamentally fair trials where the People prove the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This case illustrates this point: appellant

received a fundamentally fair trial and the record affirmatively shows that any error was harmless. Accordingly, this court should expressly overrule *Cummings* and hold that error in failing to instruct on any number of the elements of the charged offense is subject to harmless error review.

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Is the failure to instruct the jury on the elements of a charged offense subject to harmless error review under *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 19, 2012, a man, later identified as appellant, entered a Storage Direct in Victorville, California, pulled out a gun, and told a store employee, Kristen Wickum, to give him all the money. (1 RT 89.) Wickum was scared and gave appellant all the money in the countertop drawer. (1 RT 89-90.) Surveillance video showed appellant robbing the store (1 RT 56), and Wickum could see his face, which was not covered. (1 RT 92.) The surveillance footage showed appellant wearing a black hooded sweatshirt. (1 RT 116.) He told Wickum to get on the floor. He asked for Wickum's cell phone, and she pleaded with him not to take it. He then took the office phone and broke it. (1 RT 92.) Wickum was afraid that appellant might shoot her. (1 RT 92.) Wickum, who was shaking and crying, called the police at 5:06 p.m. after appellant left with the money. (2 RT 240.)

San Bernardino County Sheriff's Deputy Travis Buell quickly arrived at the Storage Direct after he received a call that an armed robbery had occurred. (1 RT 43, 45.) Deputy Buell spoke to Wickum, who told the deputy that a man robbed her of \$338. (1 RT 42, 49.) Wickum was visibly upset and her hands were shaking. (1 RT 44.) She told the deputy that the man who robbed her was a Black male who was approximately 20 years

old and five feet, eleven inches tall. He was carrying a black handgun that was scuffed and scratched, and wearing a blue hooded sweatshirt, gray shorts, and black Chuck Taylor shoes. (1 RT 46.) Deputy Buell reviewed the surveillance footage from the store. (1 RT 46.) Later, Wickum almost immediately identified appellant as the robber in a photographic lineup. (1 RT 105.)

Shortly after Deputy Buell responded to the robbery at the Storage Direct, he received another dispatch call reporting an armed robbery at La Mexicana, a convenience store. (1 RT 46-48.) The 911 call from La Mexicana was placed at 6:21 p.m. (2 RT 240.) Christian Lopez, the store clerk, was closing the shop when a man came into the store and pointed a gun at him. The man said, "[G]ive me the money muthafucker," and Mr. Lopez gave him the money—about \$700—from the register. (1 RT 69-70.) Lopez got a good look at the man's face. (1 RT 75.) The man then told Lopez to lie down and put his face down on the floor. (1 RT 70.) Lopez was afraid that the robber was going to shoot him. (1 RT 70.) The man then kicked Lopez in the back and left the store. (1 RT 70-71.) Surveillance footage showed appellant robbing La Mexicana. It also showed appellant kick Lopez in the back. (1 RT 73-74.)

Once he arrived at the store, Deputy Buell spoke with Lopez, who appeared scared. (1 RT 47-48.) Lopez told the deputy that he was robbed at gunpoint by a Black male in his twenties. The robber was about six feet tall and he wore a black shirt, khaki shorts, and was armed with a silver handgun. (1 RT 49.) Lopez identified appellant as the robber right away when the police showed Lopez a photographic lineup. (1 RT 79.)

On January 4, 2013, Detective Heather Forsythe executed a search warrant at a residence in Victorville. (1 RT 111.) Detective Forsythe contacted three people in the home, including appellant. The detective searched appellant's bedroom and found some ammunition, a black

bandana, and some baseball hats. (1 RT 111-112.) Appellant's mother, Charlene Butts, told the detective that appellant kept some of his clothes in an adjacent room. (1 RT 113.) In that room, Detective Forsythe found cargo-style men's shorts, two black hooded sweatshirts, and a pair of Chuck Taylor Converse shoes. (1 RT 114.) Appellant's family confirmed that these were appellant's clothes. (1 RT 115.)

Appellant's mother, Charlene Butts, testified in appellant's defense. She said that she drove appellant home from jail on December 18, 2012. (1 RT 180-181.) Several family members were at Butts's home to celebrate appellant's release from jail. (1 RT 181.) Appellant and his family members smoked marijuana and played video games for two or three days. (1 RT 181-182.) Butts and appellant's brother testified that appellant stayed at the house and did not leave the night of December 19, 2012. (1 RT 182, 200.) Yet, appellant told Detective Paul Solorio that he left his house on that night and walked to a friend's house. He told the detective that he spent the night at his friend's house. (1 RT 227.)

The San Bernardino District Attorney charged appellant with two counts of second degree robbery (Pen. Code, § 211) and alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offenses (§ 12022.53, subd. (b)). (1 CT 1-2.) During their respective closing arguments, both counsel listed the elements of robbery for the jury. (2 RT 265, 281.) The trial court, however, failed to instruct the jury with CALCRIM number 1600, the standard instruction on the elements of robbery. The court did instruct on the requisite intent to rob (CALCRIM No. 251) and on the elements of the personal gun use enhancement (CALCRIM No. 3146). (1 CT 142, 160.) A jury subsequently convicted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

appellant of two counts of second degree robbery and found true that he personally used a firearm in the commission of the offenses. (2 CT 183-184.) The trial court sentenced appellant to prison for 19 years four months. (2 CT 210, 211.)

On appeal, appellant claimed, in relevant part, that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the elements of robbery, and that such error was reversible per se under *People v. Cummings*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th 1233.<sup>2</sup> The People conceded that the court erred in failing to instruct on some elements of robbery, but argued that the error was subject to harmless error review pursuant to *People v. Mil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th 400, which relied on *Neder v. U.S.*, *supra*, 527 U.S. 1. The People argued that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because (1) the court's other instructions required that the jury find multiple elements of robbery beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) appellant conceded all of the elements of robbery and contested only identity; (3) counsel for both sides listed all of the elements of robbery for the jury during argument; and (4) overwhelming evidence proved appellant was the person who committed the robberies.

The Court of Appeal reversed appellant's two robbery convictions on the ground that the failure to instruct on substantially all of the elements of the charged offenses was reversible per se under *Cummings*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th 1233. (*People v. Merritt*, *supra*, slip op. at p. 9.) The court did not address *Mil*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th 400, cited by the People, which holds that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellant raised a second claim that the trial court prejudicially erred in instructing the jury that the People need only prove that the offenses occurred "on or about" an exact date because appellant raised an alibi defense. The Court of Appeal declined to address this issue after it held appellant was entitled to relief based on his instructional error claim. (*People v. Merritt* (2015) E062540, slip op. at pp. 9-10.)

failure to instruct on multiple elements of the charged offense is subject to harmless error review.

The People filed a petition for rehearing, which the Court of Appeal denied without comment. The People then filed a petition for review, and this court granted review of the sole issue presented.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeal, in reversing appellant's two robbery convictions

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT ON
SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF THE ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED
OFFENSE IS SUBJECT TO HARMLESS ERROR REVIEW

for failure to give CALCRIM number 1600 (setting forth the elements for robbery), held that the error was structural and not amenable to harmless error review. It did so based solely on this court's decision in *People v. Cummings, supra,* 4 Cal.4th 1233. (*People v. Merritt, supra,* slip op. at p. 9.) But since *Cummings*, the United States Supreme Court in *Neder* clarified that harmless error analysis applies to instructional errors concerning the omission of an element of the offense. And subsequently, in *People v. Mil*, this court, relying on *Neder*, held the failure to instruct on more than one element was subject to harmless error review. The rule in *Cummings* is no longer viable in light of these more recent opinions.

Moreover, application of the rule in *Cummings* leads to arbitrary results, while application of the rule in *Neder* and *Mil* preserves judgments obtained from fundamentally fair trials where error is proven harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This case aptly demonstrates how the omission of an instruction on a substantive offense does not *always* and *necessarily* render the trial fundamentally unfair, nor does it necessarily result in an unreliable determination of guilt or innocence. Instead, as the record here shows, such error can be assessed under the harmless error standard. Accordingly, this court should revisit *Cummings* and hold that error in

failing to instruct on any number of the elements of the charged offense is subject to harmless error review.

#### A. Legal Background

In Cummings, codefendant Kenneth Earl Gay was convicted of premeditated first degree murder of a police officer, two counts of attempted robbery, and ten counts of robbery. (Cummings, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1256.) The jury returned a penalty verdict of death for the capital murder offense. (Ibid.) During trial, the trial court failed to give the standard instruction for robbery, which was the subject of ten charges against Gay. (Id. at p. 1312.) The court did instruct on the specific intent element in a separate instruction, which read "'robbery requires ... the specific intent to permanently deprive the owner of its property." (Id. at p. 1312, fn. 52.) The jury was not formally instructed on the remaining elements. (Id. at p. 1312.) At the time Cummings was decided, state and federal courts lacked guidance from the United States Supreme Court concerning whether harmless error analysis could apply to instructional error concerning omitted elements of charged offenses or whether such error was reversible per se. The Cummings court examined three United States Supreme Court cases involving improper instructions on an element of the charged offense. (Id. at pp. 1313-1314.) In Rose v. Clark (1986) 478 U.S. 570, the Supreme Court held the harmless error standard applied to an erroneous malice instruction that all homicides are presumed to be malicious in the absence of evidence which would rebut that presumption. (Rose v. Clark, supra, at p. 584.) In Pope v. Illinois (1987) 481 U.S. 497, the Supreme Court held harmless error review applied to an instruction containing an erroneous definition of "obscene materials," an element of the charged offense of obscenity. (Pope v. Illinois, supra, at p. 503.) In Carella v. California (1989) 491 U.S. 263, the Supreme Court held harmless error review applied to erroneous instructions that imposed

conclusive presumptions as to essential elements of the charged offense. (Carella v. California, supra, at p. 266.) As noted, all three cases analyzed the respective error under the harmless error test. But the Cummings court distinguished these cases and found that they made "a clear distinction between instructional error that entirely precludes jury consideration of an element of the offense and that which affects only an aspect of an element." (Cummings, supra, at p. 1315, emphasis added.) The Cummings court held that harmless error review was inapplicable to an instructional error that withdrew from the jury's consideration "substantially all" of the elements of an offense, unless, through other instructions, the jury found all the facts necessary to support a conclusion that the omitted elements were proven. (Ibid.)

Five years after *Cummings*, this court decided *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470 (*Flood*) and held harmless error review applied where the trial court erroneously precluded the jury from finding an essential element of the charged offense. A jury found Flood guilty of evading a vehicle operated by a pursuing police officer, but the trial court instructed the jury that the police officers in the vehicle *were* peace officers, effectively removing the element of whether the police were "peace officers" from the jury's consideration. (*Id.* at pp. 478-479.) The *Flood* court held the error was subject to harmless error review because it did not prevent the defendant from presenting evidence concerning contested elements of the crime, and thus the error did not affect the content of the record or impair the court's ability to evaluate the error. (*Id.* at p. 504, citing *Rose v. Clark*, *supra*, 478 U.S. at p. 579, fn. 7.) The *Flood* court cited *Cummings* in passing, but did not discuss or distinguish *Cummings*. (*Id.* at pp. 495, 511.)

One year later, the United States Supreme Court addressed the issue in *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. 1. In *Neder*, the trial court failed to instruct the jury on one element of the charged offense, which the Supreme Court

found was error in violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. (Id. at p. 12.) Specifically, Neder was charged with and convicted of two counts of filing a false tax return. (Id. at p. 6.) "Materiality" was a necessary element of the offense, yet the district court instructed the jury that it "need not consider" the materiality of any false statements and instructed that materiality was "not a question for the jury to decide." (Id. at pp. 6, 8.) The Supreme Court concluded the omission of the materiality element was constitutional error and then assessed whether the error was amenable to harmless error review. (Id. at p. 12.) It examined the same three cases that the Cummings court examined—Rose v. Clark, Pope v. Illinois, and Carella v. California—as well as post-Cummings cases. (Neder, at p. 14.) The court explained that an instructional error omitting an element of the offense is not structural error requiring automatic reversal because it is possible to determine whether the error is harmless from the record. (*Id.* at p. 12.) Unlike in Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, in which the court held that giving a defective reasonable doubt instruction is structural error because it "vitiates all the jury's findings," omitting the elements of an offense does not necessarily "vitiate all the jury's findings" because the consequences of the error may be determined and quantified. (Neder, at p. 12.)

In *Neder*, the United States Supreme Court rejected the rule that Neder proposed, which was the same rule adopted in *Cummings*—that an instructional error that omits an element of the crime is only subject to harmless error review when the jury is required to find other facts that necessarily satisfy the omitted element or elements. (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 14.) The court determined the rule was fundamentally flawed because it "imports into the initial structural-error determination (i.e., whether an error is structural) a case-by-case approach that is more consistent with our traditional harmless-error inquiry (i.e., whether an error

is harmless). Under our cases, a constitutional error is either structural or it is not." (*Ibid.*) Thus, the high court held the error in failing to instruct on an element of the offense was subject to traditional harmless error review.

Subsequent decisions of this court have followed suit and applied harmless error analysis to instructional errors of constitutional dimension. Most importantly, in Mil, this court held that failure to instruct on two out of three elements of the alleged felony-murder special circumstance was not structural error but was subject to harmless error review. (Mil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 410.) The *Mil* court relied heavily on *Neder* and reasoned that most instructional errors are subject to harmless error review, and Neder's holding was not limited to the omission of one element. (Id. at pp. 412-413.) In Aranda, this court held that the failure to give the standard reasonable doubt instruction was constitutional error subject to harmless error review. (Aranda, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 363.) The Aranda court again relied on *Neder* and recognized that most instructional errors of constitutional dimension are subject to harmless error review because it is possible to determine the effect of the error on the verdict. (*Ibid.*) Also, in People v. Gonzalez (2012) 54 Cal.4th 643, this court relied on Neder and held instructional error in giving conflicting instructions on the mens rea element of first degree murder was subject to harmless error review. (Id. at pp. 662-663.)

## B. The Error in Failing to Instruct on Substantially All Elements of the Charged Offense is Not Structural Error Requiring Automatic Reversal

In *Neder*, the United States Supreme Court explained that most constitutional errors are amenable to harmless error review, and very few are structural errors requiring automatic reversal. (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 8 [limited class of structural error includes complete denial of counsel, biased trial judge, racial discrimination in jury selection, denial of self-

representation at trial, denial of public trial, and defective reasonable doubt instruction]; also Arizona v. Fulminante (1991) 499 U.S. 279, 310 [recognizing a limited class of structural errors].) Even before Neder, this court recognized that "instructional errors—whether misdescriptions, omissions, or presumptions—as a general matter fall within the broad category of trial errors subject to *Chapman* review on direct appeal." (Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at p. 499.) Post-Neder, this court in Mil again recognized, "[a]n error is structural, and thus subject to automatic reversal, only in a very limited class of cases, such as the complete denial of counsel, a biased decisionmaker, racial discrimination in jury selection, denial of self-representation at trial, denial of a public trial," and denial of any instruction on the burden of proof. (Mil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 410, emphasis added, internal quotations omitted, citing Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 8; see also Aranda, at p. 363 ["[M]ost errors implicating a federal constitutional right, including most instructional errors, are amenable to harmless error analysis and that only a 'very limited class of cases' are subject to per se reversal."].)

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