SU	PR		ME	O	MIF	7
	E E E	-KG-1945	41.5	ANTON O	and a	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

			AUG 1 8 2016
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	4th Criminal No. E062540	Frank A. NicGuire Clerk
Plaintiff and Respondent,)		Deputy
V.))	San Bernardino Co Superior Court Ca	•
ANDRE MERRITT, Defendant and Appellant.)	FVI1300082	

ON REVIEW FROM
THE FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO
AND THE SAN BERNARDINO SUPERIOR COURT
THE HONORABLE DEBRA HARRIS, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Hon. Debra Harris, Judge

John L. Dodd, Esq. #126729 John L. Dodd & Associates 17621 Irvine Blvd., Ste. 200 Tustin, CA 92780 Tel. (714) 731-5572 Fax (714) 731-0833 jdodd@appellate-law.com

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

DISCUSSION

I. THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT ON THE CHARGED OFFENSE WAS STRUCTURAL ERROR, REQUIRING REVERSAL PER SE, AND IS NOT CONTROLLED BY NEDER.

A. Legal Background.

In *Cummings*, the trial court "did not include an instruction defining robbery when instructing the jury. The court did instruct the jury, however, that '... the crime of attempted robbery ... requires the specific intent to permanently deprive the owner of its property." (*Cummings*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1311-1312.) This Court held, "[a] finding that property was taken with the intent to permanently deprive the owner does not compel a conclusion that the jury has found the facts necessary to establish the remaining elements of the offense." (*Id.* at p. 1313.)

Cummings explained the error required reversal per se, observing "a distinction between instructional error that entirely precludes jury consideration of an element of an offense and that which affects only an aspect of an element." (Cummings, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1315.) This Court also ruled a harmless error analysis cannot be applied "to instructional error which withdraws from jury

consideration substantially all of the elements of an offense and did not require by other instructions that the jury find the existence of the facts necessary to a conclusion that the omitted element had been proved." (*Ibid.*) This Court concluded, "regardless of the merits of the People's argument that" the defendant "did not dispute the existence of the predicate facts and that the evidence overwhelmingly established all of the elements of robbery," the convictions on his robbery counts must be reversed. (*Ibid.*)

Six years later, the United States Supreme Court decided *Neder*, in which the District Court had "erred in refusing to submit the issue of materiality to the jury with respect to those charges involving tax fraud." (*Neder, supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 4.) The District Court, operating under then-existing precedent, has instructed the jury that "materiality" of false statements was not an issue for its consideration, as it was a question of law for the court, which precedent subsequently was overruled. (*Id.* at p. 6.) The Court decided "whether, and under what circumstances, the omission of *an element* from the judge's charge to the jury can be harmless error. . ."

(*Id.* at p. 7, emphasis added), concluding "the harmless-error rule of

Chapman v. California applies to this error. . . . " (Id. at pp. 4, 9-10.)

In reaching this conclusion, the Supreme Court first noted several types of structural errors, including complete denial of counsel, a biased judge, a denial of self-representation, and a defective reasonable doubt instruction (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 8), then wrote:

The error at issue here – a jury instruction that omits an element of the offense – differs markedly from the constitutional violations we have found to defy harmless-error review. Those cases, we have explained, contain a "defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." [Citation.] Such errors "infect the entire trial process," [Citation], and "necessarily render a trial fundamentally unfair." [Citation.] Put another way, these errors deprive defendants of "basic protections" without which "a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guild or innocence . . . and no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair."

(Id. at pp. 8-9, emphasis added.)

The Court concluded "an instruction that omits an element of the offense does not *necessarily* render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence."

(*Neder, supra,* 527 U.S. at p. 9, original emphasis.) It relied on prior precedent which had "applied harmless error analysis to cases involving improper instructions on a single element of the offense."

(*Id.* at pp. 9-10.) *Neder* emphasized it only concerned omission of "an", i.e., one, element of an offense, not substantially all the elements, or omission of an instruction concerning a specific offense altogether. (*Id.* at pp. 10-11.) *Neder* did not explain how many "other" elements were included in the various offenses, but it was clear that only the one element of materiality had been removed from the jury's consideration in that case.

B. Neder Does Not Control Because the Instant Case
Does Not Concern the Mere Omission of One
"Element" of an Offense, and This Court's
Subsequent Opinions Do Not Undermine Cummings.

Neder repeatedly emphasized the issue there was the omission of "an" element or a "single" element (Neder, supra, at pp. 8-10), not substantially all the elements of the offense, or the entire instruction explaining the offense to the jury. Because Neder only considered the omission of an instruction concerning one element, it is not controlling in cases such as this one in which substantially all the elements, or the instruction concerning the entire offense, are missing. (People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 567; Gomez v. Superior Court (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1125, 1153 [Cases are not authority for propositions not considered.].)

Neder also distinguished Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 281-282 [113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182], which had held instructing the jury with a defective reasonable doubt instruction was structural error because it "vitiates all the jury's findings," omitting one element would not vitiate all the jury's findings. (Neder, supra, at pp. 10-11.) The People assert the error here was not structural because it did not "vitiate all of the jury's findings." (OBM 13.) It does, however, "vitiate" the jury's findings on this one offense.

"Vitiate" means: "to impair the quality of, make faulty, spoil, mar. . . ." (Webster's Encyclopedic Unabridged Dict. (Deluxe Ed., 2001), p. 2127, col. 3.) Certainly, the jury's finding is impaired in quality if the jury has not been given the definition of the offense.

The People rely in part on *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470 (OBM 8), but *Flood* is distinguishable because, there, the trial court erroneously had removed only one *element* of the offense from the jury's consideration. (*Id.* at pp. 479-482.) This Court specifically explained: "We have no occasion in this case to decide whether there may be some instances in which a trial court's instruction removing an issue from the jury's consideration will be the equivalent of failing

to submit the entire case to the jury – an error that clearly would be a 'structural' rather than a 'trial' error." (*Id.* at p. 503.) Indeed, *Flood* also listed *Harmon v. Marshall* (9th Cir. 1995) 69 F.3d 963, 966 – in which the Court had found structural error because all elements had been removed from the jury's consideration – as distinguishable. (*People v. Flood, supra,* 18 Cal.4th at p. 503, fn. 20.) Moreover, the Ninth Circuit continued to recognize the distinction noted in *Harmon* well after *Neder*. (*United States v. Recio* (9th Cir. 2004) 371 F.3d 1093, 1102-1103.) *Flood* specifically left the question open; it did not undermine *Cummings*.

Thirteen years after *Neder* this Court decided *Mil*, in which it expanded on the "element" discussion, holding omission of two elements of special circumstance allegations may be subject to a harmless error analysis. (*Mill, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 409-414.) *Mil* did not hold omission of the key instruction concerning the primary offense was subject to a harmless error analysis, nor does any case cited by respondent. Indeed, *Mil* repeats *Cummings*' ruling "omission of 'substantially all of the elements' of a charged offense is reversible per se." (*Id.* at p. 413, citing *Cummings*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1315.)

Omission of the entire instruction certainly is more grievous than omission of "substantially all of the elements."

Mil also specifically rejected the argument the omission of two elements from the charge equated to the omission of substantially all of the elements of an offense, concluding, "We do not find that the omission here was akin to what occurred in Cummings." (Mil, supra, at pp. 415-416.) In distinguishing the type of the error in Mil from that in Cummings, this Court impliedly rejected the People's argument in this case. Mil also reiterated the issue had not been decided in Flood. (Id. at p. 413.)

The People devote much of their brief to an argument against the "substantially all" question, claiming *Cummings*' focus on that issue conflicts with the purpose behind per se reversal. (OBM 16-23.) The problem with that line of argument is that is not what happened here because the *entire* instruction was omitted. Therefore, there is no need to consider which "elements" were omitted and no need to either accept or reject the "substantially all' rule" (OBM 21) in this particular case. Neither *Neder* nor any of this Court's post-

either are distinguishable or left the question open.

C. Omission of the Entire Instruction Must Be Reversible Per Se.

If the jury is not instructed concerning the offense at all, it is left to colloquial "definitions" of offenses, which may or may not be accurate. Because no instruction was given, a reviewing court cannot determine what, if any, legal parameters the jury applied in finding the defendant guilty. This is truly an instance in which the effect of the error cannot be evaluated, rendering the error structural.

In his majority opinion as to "Part II" of Arizona v. Fulminante (1991) 499 U.S. 279 [111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302], Chief Justice Rehnquist explained the harmless error analysis applied when analyzing cases involving "trial error' – error which occurred during the presentation of the case to the jury, and which may therefore be quantitatively assessed in the context of the other evidence presented in order to determine whether its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (Id. at pp. 307-308.) Chief Justice Rhenquist went on to explain the types of errors which had been held to be "structural:"

//

The admission of an involuntary confession -- a classic "trial error" -- is markedly different from the other two constitutional violations referred to in the Chapman footnote as not being subject to harmless-error analysis. One of those violations, involved in Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), was the total deprivation of the right to counsel at trial. The other violation, involved in Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510 (1927), was a judge who was not impartial. These are structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which defy analysis by "harmless-error" standards. The entire conduct of the trial from beginning to end is obviously affected by the absence of counsel for a criminal defendant, just as it is by the presence on the bench of a judge who is not impartial. Since our decision in Chapman, other cases have added to the category of constitutional errors which are not subject to harmless error the following: unlawful exclusion of members of the defendant's race from a grand jury, Vasquez v. Hillery, 474 U.S. 254 (1986); the right to self-representation at trial, McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 177-178, n. 8 (1984); and the right to public trial, Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 49, n. 9 (1984). Each of these constitutional deprivations is a similar structural defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself. (Arizona v. Fulminate, supra, 499 U.S. at pp. 309-310.)

The Supreme Court revisited this question in *United States v*.

Gonzalez-Lopez (2006) 548 U.S. 140 [126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409], concerning the erroneous deprivation of a defendant's right to retained counsel of his own choosing. (*Id.* at pp. 142-143.) Justice Scalia explained *Fulminante* and the "structural" error question:

Although it is hard to read that case as doing anything other than dividing constitutional error into two comprehensive categories, our ensuing analysis in fact relies neither upon such comprehensiveness nor upon trial error as the touchstone for the availability of harmless-error review. Rather, here, as we have done in the past, we rest our conclusion of structural error upon the difficulty of assessing the effect of the error. (*Id.* at p. 148, fn. 4.)

That passage also went on to reject the limiting, "fundamental unfairness" test advanced by the People here (OBM pp. 14, 22-23), explaining: "But this has not been the only criterion we have used. In addition to the above cases using difficulty of assessment as the test, we have also relied on the irrelevance of harmlessness"

(Gonzalez-Lopez, supra, 548 U.S. at p. 148, fn. 4.)

In the instant case, there are two separate, independent reasons for per se reversal, the first being the difficulty of determining what standard the jury applied. Although a lay person's view of what a "robbery" is may be reasonably accurate, certainly the same cannot be said of a multitude of other offenses, many of which the average juror probably never has even heard of, much less considered the required "elements." "Burglary" can be committed in any number of ways, chiefly depending on the intent of the defendant, with no actual "theft" required, as the average juror may suppose. (Pen. Code, § 459; *People v. Ceballos* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 470, 479, fn. 2; *People v.*

Brownlee (1977) 74 Cal.App.3d 921, 930.) This Court has noted a "reasonable lay juror" would not know the technical definition for "rape." (People v. Hughes (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 349-350.)

Moreover, if no instruction is given, each juror could apply an individualized definition of the offense, which may be completely inconsistent with the definitions employed by other jurors. Because it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine what definition a jury employed if no instruction concerning the offense is given, the error is not subject to harmless error review.

Moreover, the second criterion concerns the irrelevance of harmlessness to the analysis. (Gonzalez-Lopez, supra, 548 U.S. at p. 148, fn. 4.) The absence of the instruction denied the defendant the right to have the jury determine his guilt as to the particular offense, as discussed further in the following issue. If the defendant was denied his Sixth Amendment right, harmlessness is "irrelevant." (See Sullivan v. Louisiana, supra, 508 U.S. at p. 281 [denial of right to jury determination may not be quantitatively assessed because "the jury guarantee being a 'basic protection' whose precise effects are unmeasurable, but without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve

its function. . . . "; see also *Waller v. Georgia* (1984) 467 U.S. 39, 49-50 [104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31] [per se reversal of a suppression hearing for violation of public trial guarantee]; *United States v. Harbin* (7th Cir. 2001) 250 F.3d 532, 543 [denial of right to jury trial reversible per se]; *United States v. Monger* (6th Cir. 1999) 185 F.3d 574, 578 [*Neder* inapplicable if entire instruction omitted].) Because harmlessness is irrelevant to the inquiry, it similarly is irrelevant that bits and pieces of the robbery instruction may have been presented to the jury in other instructions, or that counsel did not argue there was no robbery, key components of the People's argument in this Court. (OBM 14-15.)

"A jury of laypersons forced to guess at the law is not ordered liberty, it is chaos. Part of the core concept of a jury trial is that the jurors find the facts and apply to them the law described by the judge in order to reach a verdict." (*Reynolds v. Cambra* (C.D. Cal. 2001) 136 F.Supp.2d 1071, 1095; reversed on other grounds in *Reynolds v. Cambra* (9th Cir. 2002) 290 F.3d 1029.) *Neder* cannot apply if an instruction is completely omitted. For all these reasons *Neder* is not controlling. This error requires per se reversal.

II. OMISSION OF THE ENTIRE INSTRUCTION CONCERNING AN OFFENSE MUST BE VIEWED AS STRUCTURAL ERROR BECAUSE IT DENIES THE DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. ADDITIONALLY, NEDER'S CONCLUSION IS NO LONGER VALID AFTER APPRENDI.

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